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~ UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.
March 17, 1975

In the matter of an investigation ) Docket No. 31

with regard to the importation and ) Section 337

domestic sale of certain electronic )

pianos ) - Tariff Act of 1930, as amended
INTRODUCTION

On March 6, 1972, The Wurlitzer Co., of Chicago, Ill., hereinafter
referred to as complainant, 1/ 2/ filed a complaint with the U.S.
Tariff Commission (now the U.S. International Trade Commission) requesting
relief under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C.
1337), alleging unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the
importation and sale of electronic pianos manufactured by Nippon
Columbia Co., Ltd., of Japaﬁ. Complainant alleged that the imported
electronic pianos are embraced within the claims of its U.S. Patent Nos.
3,038,363; 2,942,512; 2,949,053; and 3,154,997; that they strongly
‘resemble compléinant's product in appearance; 3/ and that the [.porta-
tion of electronic pianos by Electrokey, Inc., Rhythm Band, Inc., and
Tommy Moore, all of Fort Worth, Tex., and the Chicago Musical Instru-
ment Co. of Chicago, I11., hereinafter referred to as respondents, has
the effect or tendency to substantially injure an efficiently and

economically operated industry in the United States.

1/ The terms '‘complainant" and "respondent' frequently appear in this
report. The Commission wishes to enter the following: The use of these
terms is limited to serving as a convenient means of identifying certain
parties before the Commission.

2/ Commissioner Leonard wishes to enter further: The use of the terms
""complainant" and "respondent' is not.to be construed, by implication or
otherwise, as an indication that the Commission proceedings are adjudica-
tory as opposed to fact-finding.

3/ As will be seen infra, this allegation appears to refer to "copying."



Notice of receipt of the complaint and institution of the pre-

liminary inquiry was published in the Federal Register of April 4,

1972 (37 F.R. 6797). Interested parties were given until May 1, 1972,
to file written views pertinent to the subject matter. Upon the
written request of Electrokey, Inc., the Commission granted an
extension of time for'filing written views until May 11, 1972; notice

of the extension was published in the Federal Register of April 19,

1972 (37 F.R.v7736).

On May 11, 1972, respondents filed a joint statement with the
Commission in which they contended that (1) the Commission should
dismiss or suspend its proceedings because the issues involved are
confined to patent questions, and the same patents are the subject
of litigation in the United Sﬁates District Court for the Northern
District of Texas, Dallas‘Division, which court has jurisdiction
over all the parties and can grant whatever remedies are legally
appropriate; (2) the scope and content of the prior art would indicate
that the electronic piano is a product of evolution, not revolution;
(3) the four patents in question are not pioneer patents; (4) Nippon
Columbia Co., Ltd., developed its product independently and did not
copy the U.S. prodﬁct; (5) the imported electronic piano is not made
in accordance with any of complainant's patents; and (6) there are
serious questions as to the validity of the patents involved.

On August 2, 1972, complainant filed a supplement to its complaint
before the Commission, requesting that, pending the institution of a
full investigation, the Commission recommend to the President the

issuance of a temporary order of exclusion.



The Commission conducted a preliminary inquiry, in accordance with
section 203.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure
(19 C.F.R. 203.3), to determine whether, in view of the above submissions,
a full investigation was warranted and, if so, whether it should recom-
mend to the President that a temporary exclusion order be issued pur-
suant to 19 U.S.C. 1337(f). 1/ On September 22, 1972 the Commission
issued a notice ordering a full investigation, and on November 30, 1972,
it issued a notice that a public hearing on the matter was scheduled
for January 30, 1973. It déclined to recommend on the earlier date the
issuance of a temporary exclusion order by the Président. Nctice of the

investigation was published in the Federal Register on September 28,

1972 (37 F.R. 20289) and notice of the hearing was published therein on
December 5, 1972 (37 F.R. 25891).

Respondents filed a prehearing submission with the Commission on
December 18, 1972, containing, among other motions, motions to dismiss,
to suspend, or to postpone further Commission proceedings in the
investigation. Complainant opposed these motions by a submission dated
January 5, 1973. The Commission denied all of respondents' motions on
'January 11, 1973, and advised respondents to that effect.

. The scheduled hearing was held January 30-31, 1973, and resumed

and closed on March 29, 1973. Notice of resumption of the hearing was

1/ The standard adopted by the Commission for deciding whether the
issuance of such an order should be recommended (as indicated to the
parties by letter notice) is whether a prima facie showing of violation
of the provisions of sec. 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 has been
made and whether, in the absence of a temporary order of exclusion,
immediate and substantial injury would be sustained.



published in the Federal Register on February 7, 1973 (38 F.R. 3554).

Briefs were submitted on behalf of the complainant and on behalf of
the respondents.
On July 17, 1974, the Commission ordered that an additional
hearing would be held on August 15, 1974, in connection with the investi-

gation. Notice of the hearing was published in the Federal Register

on July 23, 1974 (39 F.R. 26796). 1/

The additional hearing was held as scheduled on August 15, 1974.
Additional briefs were submitted on behalf of the complainant and on
behalf of the respondents.

Copies of the complaint, the notice of investigation, the extension

of time for filing written views, and dates of hearings were served

upon known interested parties.

1/ The subject matter for the hearing was defined by the Commission's
notice as follows:

(1) to define the industry affected by imported electronic
pianos allegedly covered by the claim(s) in U.S. Patent Nos.
3,038,363 and 2,949,053 owned by complainant; (2) to present
evidence as to whether there is domestic production of elec-
tronic pianos allegedly covered by the claim(s) in these two
patents; and (3) in the event there is domestic production
under the claim(s) in these two patents, (a) to present
evidence as to whether the imported electronic pianos are
covered by the same claim(s); and (b) to present evidence as
to the alleged effect or tendency of these imported electronic
pianos to substantially injure the industry referred to in
item (1) above.



FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION
OF THE COMMISSION

The Commission (Commissioners Leonard and Minchew dissenting) finds
unfair methods of competition or unfair acts in the unlicensed importa-
tion and sale of certain electronic'piaﬁos by reason of their being made
in accordance with the claim(s) in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363, the effect
or tendency of which is to substantially injure an industry, efficiently
and economically operated,‘in the United States.

The Commission does not find unfair methods of competition or
unfair acts in the importation into the United States, or in the sale
by the owner, importer, consignee, or agent of either, of (1) electronic
pianos allegedly made in accordance with the claim(s) in U.S. Patent No.
2,942,512; (2) electronic pianos allegedly made in accordance with the
claim(s) in U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053; or (3) reeds for electronic
pianos allegedly made iﬁ accordance with the claim(s) in U.S. Patent No.
3,154,997, the effect or tendency of which is to substantially injure
an indu;try, efficiently and economically operated, in the United States.

The Commission (Commissioners Moore and Ablondi dissenting) 1/
recommends that the President not issue an exclusion order to forbid
entry into the United States of electronic pianos covered by the

claim(s) in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363.

1/ Commissioners Moore and Ablondi recommend that, in accordance with
subsection (e) of section 337, the President issue an exclusion order to
forbid entry into the United States of electronic pianos covered by the
claim(s) in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363, until expiration of the patent,
except where the importation is under license of the owner of U.S.
Patent No. 3,038,363.



STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN BEDELL AND VICE CHAIRMAN PARKER

/ On March 6, 1972, a complaint was filed with the rj.s.
Tariff-Commission by The Wurlitzer Co., of Chicago, I11.,
alleging unfair methods of competition and unfair acts
in the importation and-sale of certain electronic pianos by
Electrokey, Inc., et al. (which electronic pianos allegedly
infringed the claims in three of Wurlitzer's patents and con-
tained reeds which allegedly infringed Phe claims of a fourth

» /
Wurlitzer patent), the effect or tendency of Which is to sﬁbétan-
tially injure an efficiently and economically operated industry
in the United States. A supplemental complaint was filed by
Wurlitzer with the Commission on August 2, 1972.  The complaint,
as supplemented, requested that the Commission recommend to the
President that the imported electronic pianos in question be
barred from entry into the Unitéd States pursuant to section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930.

Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 declares unlawful
unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the importation
‘of articles into the United States, of in their sale by the owner,
importer, consignee, or agent of either, the effect or tendency

of which is (a) to destroy or substantially injure an efficiently

and economieally operated domestic industry, or (b) to prevent



the esfablishment of such an industry, or (c) to restrain or
monopolize trade and commerce in the United States. ;/

We have determined that the importation and sale of
electronic pianos by Electrokey, Inc., et al., which are made
in accordance with the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No.
3,038,363, have the effect or tendency to substantially injure
an efficiently and economiéally operated domestic industry.
There is domestic production under the claims in issue in this
patent. The domestic industry in question, which consists of
that portion of Wurlitzer's operations which is engaged in the
domestic manufacture of electronic pianos covered by the claims
in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363, g/ is efficiently and

economically operated, as is required by the statute.

With respect to the importation and sale of electronic

pianos allegedly made in accordance with the claims in issue in

1/ The effect or tendency of unfair practices to prevent the
~establishment of an efficiently and economically operated domestic
industry or to restrain or monopolize trade and commerce is not at
issue here. ’

2/ Wurlitzer is by assignment the owner of the U.S. Patent No.
3,038, 363, which was issued on June 12, 1962. Wurlitzer has never
granted a license to any party for productlon or sale of electronic
pianos under this patent. This patent has been litigated before the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas in The Wurlitzer
Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3-4803C) which held that
the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 are valid and infringed.
The decision of the court has been appealed to the fifth circuit.




U.S. Patent Nos.‘2,9h2,512 and 2,949,053, and with respect to
reeds in such electronic pianos allegedly made in accordance with
U.S. Patent No. 3,154,997, we do not find a violation of section 337.

For the reasons hereinafter set forfh, we do not recommend
the issuance by the President of an exclusion order.

The Patents Which Are Determined Not To Involve a
Violation of Section 337

In addressing ourselveé initially to U.S. Patent No. 3,154,997
(relating to reeds used in electronic pianos) We.note that the
reeds employed in the imported electronic pianos have siﬁce August
1972 been of a noninfringing design. The issues relating to infringe—.
ment of the claims in issue in this patent are now moot for an
even more compelling reason--namely, that on November 14, 1974, the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Texas entered

its decision in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al.

(C.A. No. 3-4803C), holding that all claims in issue in this patent were
invalid.
Insofar as the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053
are concerned, We"agree with the holding of the court in the above
case that there is no infringement of these claims by the imported

electronic pianos. The substance of the invention in these claims



is an eiectroniC'piano having a solid, integral, end-to-end pick-up
structure that is designed to be built through the use of.mass
production techniques. However, the pick-up assembly in the
imported electronic pianos is, as is indicated by the court,
"comprised of many small parts that are assembled and adjusted

by hand . . .". As a consequence, the imported electronic pianos
do not follow the teachingé in U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053 and,
accordingly, we do not find any unfair methods of competition

or unfair acts involving the claims in issue in this patent.

We do not find that there is domestic production under the
claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 2,9&2,5123 The Wurlitzer
pick-up structure is not one wherein the pick-up is "vibratorily
passed by a longitudinally intermediate edge portion of the
reed"--a requirement that is explicit in claims 1, 2, and 6
and implicit in claim 9. 1/ When properly construed in the light
of the intended objectives of the patent, this language cannot be
used to cover a structure where the pick-up is located not only at
some longitudinally intermediate édge portion of the réed (i.e.,
fhe "nodal" point referred to in the pétent) but also
at the end of the reed. Since, in the domestic product, the pick-up
is located not only at a longitudinally intermediate edge portion

of the reed but also at the end of the reed, there is

1/ Claims 1, 2, 6,and 9 are the only claims in issue in U.S.
Patent No. 2,942,512.



10

no domestic exploitation of the patent in question for purposes
of section 337. Accordingly, we find no violation of section 337

involving the claims in issue in this patent.
The Considerations Relating to U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363

Our determination is based upon a finding that the imported
electronic pianos are the subject of urnfair methods of competition
and unfair acts by reason of their being made in accordance with
the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363. This determi-

nation rests largely on the decision of the court in The Wurlitzer

Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3<4803C) holding

that all claims in issue in»this patent are infringed by the
imported electronic piénos. The unlicensed importation of such
electronic pianos by Electrokey, Inc., et al. constitutes an
unfair method of competition and an unfair act.

Although we recognize thét the holding of the court with
respect to the claims in issue in this patent is not necessarily
controlling or binding on us, we would not take the position that
the interpretation placed by the court on the claim coverage in
this patent is un%enable or clearly erroneous.

Taking independent claim 3 ;/ as exemplary of the claims in

issue in this patent, it must be accepted that the interpretation

1/ See pp. A-10 through A-11 and A-25 through A-27.
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of the coverage of this claim accorded by the court is a permis-
sible one and that for purposes of the litigation is fiﬁal

unless reversed on appeal. When viewed in the light of the speci-~
fication of the patent, the language in this claim may be susceptible

to the interpretation, as was maintained by the court, that not only

does it cover the mechanical aspect of the pick-up in the electronic
piano but also, and more important, it covers the unitary
integration of the whole pick—up assembly into one electrical
circﬁit, which produces the‘cumulative capacitance disclosed in
the patent. l/ When so construed, this claim wouid cover the
imported electronic pianos.
In our view, the public interest, as well as the interest
of the barties before the Commission, would best be served if
there were no conflicting interpretations of the same subject
matter in two separate forums. This is particularly true in a
situation where, as is the case here, one forum (the court) has
already provided relief by way of an injunction prohibiting
further sales of the imported electronic pianos by the respondents.
Having concluded that the infringement of the claims in
issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 constitutes an unfair method

of competition and an unfair act under section 337, we do not

;/ Claim 3 covers an electronic piano which must have, among other
things, "a single pick-up element for electrostatically sensing
vibrations of a multiplicity of reeds, said pick-up element having
a plurality of electrically conductive portions thereof . . . ."
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recomménd the issuance of an exclusion order. Our reasons are
twofold. First, the interpretation placed upon the claim coverage
in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 by the district court has been appealed
to the fifth circuit. In our judgment, there is a likelihood that
the claim coverage in this patent, when construed in the light of
the prior art and the prosecution history of the patent, will be
limited as a result of thié appeal toa pick-up that is defined
stfictly in physical terms{ i.e., a specific type and size of pick-up
forming an electrically conductive metallic strip that is éapable
of sensing the vibrations of mére than one reed. To have such
capability, the pick-up must be constructed of, or coated with,

an electrically conductive material. Since, by definition, such

a pick-up would also be single electrically, it would be capable

of producing the cumulative capacitance réferred to in the patent.
To consider the invention in the patent to consist of an electronic
piano héving a pick-up structure that is single electrically gives
rise to serious questions of validity since virtually all

known electronic pianos embody piék—up structures that

are single electrically. In addition; the production of cumulative
capacitance in electronic musical instruments is old in the art.
The second reason for our not recommending the issuance of an

exclusion order is the court injunction referred to above.
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We do not see how the relief presently accorded to the complainant
by this injunction would be improved materially by the issuance

of an exclusion order. Such an order, under the circumstances

of this case, would amount to an unnecessary additional remedy
which would setrve only as a burden to the U.S. Customs Service

(and the U.S. taxpayer). Although we recognize that a court
injunction operates in personam only against the parties before

it and not iﬁ rem (as does an exclusion order), we do not believe
that this consideration affects the case at hand, since all known
importers of such electronic pianos were before the court and have

been enjoined from further trading in these pianos.



1k
STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONERS
LEONARD AND MINCHEW

We do ﬁot‘find unfair methods of competition or unfair acts in
the importation into the United States, or in the sale by the owner,
importer, consignee, or agent of either, of reeds for electronic
pianos allegedly covered by the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No.
3,154,997, or of electronic pianos allegedly covered by the claims
in issue in U.S. Patent Nos. 2,949,053, 2,942,512, and 3,038,363,
the effect or tendency of‘which is to destroy or substantially injure
an industry, efficiently apd economicially operated, in the Uniteqd
States. We therefore conclude that there is no violation of section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 and recommend that the President not
issue an exclusion order to forbid entry into the United States of

such electronic pianos or of the reeds therefor.

U.S. Patent No. 3,154,997

In addressing ourselves first to U.S. Patent No. 3,15&,997, we
note that the reeds used in the imported product have since August 1972
had single radius fillets ag opposed to curved inward tapers covered
by the patent. If there ever was any infringement of the claims in
‘this patent, such infringemént ceased in August 1972, at which time any
effect or tendenc& to substantially injure an industry also ceased
to exist. Accordingly, the issues pertaining to the alleged infringe-
ment of the claims in U.S. Patent No. 3,154,997 (relating to a reed in

electronic pianos) were moot long before the court held in The Wurlitzer

Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3-&803C) that all of

the claims in this patent are invalid.

In view of the above, we find no violation of section 337 involving

the claims in issue in this patent.
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U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053

In turning next to U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053, we find that, although
the domestic product is covered by the claims in issue (i.e., claims 1-L,
inclusive) in U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053, the imported product is not
covered by these claims. Accordingly, since the imported product is
not infringing the c;aims of a U.S. patent, we do not find unfair
methods of competition or unfair acts involving the claims in'issue
in this pateﬁt.

Claims 1-l, inclusive, in U.S. Patent No. 2,949,053 each cover
an electronic piano having, among other things, "a pick-up member of
comb-like configuration having a plurality of parallel feeth and an
intermediary plurality of slots each opening at one end . . . ." When
the coverage of these claimé is properly construed in the light of the
prior art, the specification, the drawings, and the file history of the
patent, it will be seen that the substance of the invention in these
claims is an electronic piano having a solid, integral, end to end pick-up
structure that is designed to be built through the use of mass production
techniques; The objective of this patent would,‘in our view, be met if
‘the pick-up assembly in question was -divided into four segments. The
domestic product'has four‘pick—ups stamped out by machinery so that each
pick-up has the requisite comblike configuration, the requisite plurality
of parallel teeth, and the requisite plurality of slots each opening
at one end. The simplistic structure of the pick-up assembly in the

‘domestic product indicates that it is covered by the claims in issue in

this patent.
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On the other hand, the pick-up assembly in the imported pianos

is, as indicated by the court in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electrokey,

Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3-4803C), "comprised of many small parts that are

assembled and adjusted by hand . . . ." As a consequence, the imported
pianos do not follow ‘the teachings in U.S. Patern* No. ,9h9 053, since,
as the court put it, the substance of the invention in this patent is

"a structure that can be built in simple operations by machinery whenever
possible." On the baols of our concurrence with this view of the scope of
the clalm coverage in this patent, we agree with the court in its

finding of noninfringement of the claim(s) in this patent by the

imported pianos. In view of the state of the art known ét the time of
the invention, the onliy contribution that could Iave been made by

C. W. Andersen (the *nventor under this patent) concerns the
mass-production feature referred to above,a feature that is present in

the domestic pianos but conspicuously absent in the imported pianos.

U.S. Patent No. 2,942,512

We fiﬁd that the claims in issue in the next patent under consideration
i.e., U.S. Patent Né, 2,942,512, éover neither the domestic nor the ‘
imported product. | |

The claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 2,9&2,512 are claims 1, 2, 6,
and 9. Clalms 1, 2, and 6 each cover an electrcnic piano having, among
other thlngs, a plckwlp structure wherein the pick-up is "vibratorily -

"

passed by a longitudizally intermediate edge portion of the reeds . . . .

This requirement is also implicit in claim 9.
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To fully effectuate a basic objective of this patent (the
elimination of undesirable inharmonics), the pick-up can be
located only at some longitudinally intermediate edge portion of the reed
(i.e., the "nodal" point referred to in the patent). The pick—up
cannot be located also at the end éf thé reed, where the greater
inharmonics generated toward the end of the reed would be detected.
In the domestic and imported products, both the sides and the end of each
regd are sufrounded by the pick-up, thus destroying the above objective
of tﬂe patent.

The court, in finding infringement of these claims in

this patent in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electrokey,ﬁInc}, et al.

(c.A. No. 3-4803C) placed greatest emphasis on its view that such a pick-up
provides "a way of minimizing what is called dynamic shortening." The
court dwelt at some length on precisely how this was accomplished in

the disclosure of U.S. Patent No. 2,942,512. 1/

1/ The court states on p. 6 of its opinion that--

. . As a reed is struck by a hammer, the portion
struck travels in the direction of the hammer strike
faster than the rest of the reed and as a result has
the effect of pulling the end of the reed away from
the pick-up. This pulling away from the pick-up
results in a large amplitude change that continues
in time past the initial striking of the reed where
in an acoustic piano, the amplitude is rapidly de-
creasing. A pick-up such as disclosed in Miessner
1512 gets in relationship to a portion of the reed
which is not dynamically shortened. This minimizes
the effects of the shortening in relation to the total
effect of the reed on the pick-up.
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With all due respect to the court, we believe that a different
interpretation of the claim coverage of this patent is in order.

First, nowhere in the claims does the patent teach minimization

of the effects of "dynamic shortening"; second, and most signifi-
cantly, the inventor under this patent himself stated in the patent
specification that he was not claiming a structure taking positive
advantage of the dynamic shortening of the reeds, the same having

been made in another patent application. 1/

The positive effect of dynamic shortening is the achievement of
"elang" tone (which is characteristic of the conventional piano tone)
in electronic pianos. We conclude, by virtue of the above observations,

that the existence cof this tone in the imported electronic pianos
proves just the reverse of the court's holding, i.e., it clearly estab-
lishes that the imported product does not embody the features claimed
in this patent. Whatever was added to produce the "clang" tone in the
imported product necessarily‘defeated one of the principal objects of

the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 2,942,512, i.e., the elimination

‘ 1/ In the specification of U.S. Patent No. 2,942,512, éol. 15, lines
3-T, B.F. Miessner (the inventor) states:

Furthermore, claims to a structure taking positive
advantage of the dynamic shortening of the reed are not
(emphasis supplied) made herein, the same having been
presented in my copending application Serial No. 683 . 125,

filed July 23, 1957.
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of inharmonic tones.

In our view, the above considerations, had they been properly
isolated and pursued in arguments before the court, might well have
prompted the court to arrive at a different conclusion. As the
record now stands before the Commission, however, it would be clearly
erroneous for the Cgmmission to base any finding of unfair methods
of competition or unfair acts on the decision of the court. Accordingly,
we do not find unfair methods of competition or unfair acts involving

the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 2,942,512.

U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363

In our opinion, the imports do not fall under the claim coverage
of any of the claims in issue in U.S. Pstent No. 3,038,363, and, accord-
ingly, we do not find that there are any unfair methods of competition
or unfair acts. | .

Our views as to the coverage which may properly be accorded to the
claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 are set forth below.

A1l éf the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 (i.e.,
claims 3-9, inclusive), whether explicitly or by way of strong
implication, embady the requirements found in claim 3 for "a single
(emphasis supplied) pick-up element for electrostatically sensing vibrations -
of a multiplicity of said reeds, said pick-up element having a plurality
of electrically cénductive portions thereof . . . ."

The quoted language is susceptible of at least three different

interpretations: The "single pick-up element" could mean (1) a unitary,

integral structure from a physical standpoint; 1/ (2) a structure that

1/ Such a structure would, by its nature, also be single electrically.
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is single from an electrical standpoint (irrespective of the physical
structure); and (3) a structure wherein the particular interactions
of.the physical and electrical functions combine to produce a single,
integrated, cumulative result.

The court essentially adopted this third interpretation in finding

infringement of claims 3-9 by the imported pianos in The Wurlitzer

Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3-4803¢). 1/ By adopting

this interpretation, the court avoided the possible challenge of
obviousness as to the first interpretation (i.e., since it is well known
that a single mechanical pick-up may be used to sense the vibrations of a
single reed, it ﬁould seemingly be obvious to have a single mechanical
pick-up sense the vibrations of two (or more) reeds, depending on how
much longer one would want the pick-up unit to be) and avoided having

to deal with the issue of prior art ﬁhich it would have confronted had it
adopted the second interpretation. (Since the prior art reveals that almost
all electrical systemé in electromagnetic as well as electrostatic

pianos are "single" electrically, there would have been no inventive
confribution in this regard). It #ill be appreciated that, of the

three, the iast interpretation is most susceptible of indiscriminate
application. The district court, in finding infringement of the claims in
issue in this patent, placed greatest emphasis on its finding that the
pick-up assembly in the imported product was "integrated into one

electrical circuit . . . . This integration produces the cumulative

1/ In support of its holding that the imported piano pick-ups (which
are made up of many separate parts) infringed the claims in this patent,
the court also indicated in its opinion that it "is a misreading of the-
[patent] disclosure" to contend "that in order for their [pick-up]
structure to infringe this patent, it would have to be made of one solid
piece." The court indicated that the patent disclosure covered "serews,
arms, etc." which were associated with the pick-up structure in the
invention. (We have, however, found no references to "arms" in the patent
disclosure. We remain satisfied that the basic thrust of the claims in
this patent, as revealed by the file wrapper, is simplicity in the pick-up
structure and that the pick-up structure in the imported product does
not meet this requirement.)
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capacitance disclosed in another part of the claims as part of the
invention." The invention in this patent, however, cannot be considered
to consist of an electronic piano having a pick-up struéture that is
single electrically--virtually all known electronic pianos embody pick-up
structures that are single electrically. Moreover, the prior art

teaches that the production of cumulative capacitance is an inevi-

table consequence of electrostatic tone generation. We do not see

that any useful contributién has 5een made merely because the

coricept of cumulative capacitance has been applied to an electronic

piano.

The file history of the patent strongly suggests that the proper
interpretation of the claim coverage in this patent is limited to the .
physical aspects of the pick-up. As set forth in the file history, the
pick-up claimed was different from all other pick-up structures theretofore
known in the art because it comprised a single pick-up which sensed the
vibrations of more than one reed and not the vibrations of just one reed. 1/
When the patent specification is properly narrowed to reflect what was
allowed after 12 years of prosecution of this patent before the U.S.
Patent Office, it will be seen thét the patent specification supports
.the interpretation that the claim covérage in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363
is limited to the physical aspects of the pick;up. Magnetic-type tone
generators, optical-type tone generators, and electrostatic-type tone
generators (employing a single pick-up corresponding to a single reed),
while still described in the patent specification, were all relinguished
by the patentee during the prosecution ofrthis patent. Insofar as they

relate to the tone generator structure, the claims, as finally allbwed,

1/ As previously noted, the claimed pick-up structure would, by its
nature, also be single electrically.
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are supported only by that portion of the specification directed to

figures 18 through 21 and figures 26 through 28 in the-ﬁatent drawings.
These figures, in our view, depict the only novel feature in U.S.

Patent No. 3,038,363--a simply designed tone generator assembly for use

in an electronic piano comprising a pick-up and reeds wherein the pick-up
consists of ore continuous strip of electrically conductive metal positioned
so that it can sense the vibrations of more than one reed. It is this
physical characteristic of the pick-up that distinguishes the tone

generator described in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 from those disclosed in the
prior art.

‘The other elements of che claims in issue, i.e., the key-action
asgembly an{ amplifier-speaker assembly,aré supported by other corre-
sponding portions of the patent specification. None of these other
elements, whether considered together or singly, can be considered to be
the invention claimed under U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363.

Our above-stated views df the proper coverage which may be accorded to
the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 are also grounded in
what is disclosed by the prior art. Each of the elements of this patent

(with the exception of the specific nature of the pick-up in the tone
generator assembiy) are old in the art. The key-action assembly

required by the claims (which initially sets the reeds in vibration) is
clearly modeled after and operates on the same princivles as the key-action
assembly found in a standard piano. This type of assembly has been in

use in pianos for a number of centuries and, accordingly, cannot be

protected by the patent. The amplifiér—speaker assembly required by the
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claims'in'issﬁe»involves no more than the art and expertise utilized
since about 1923 in other electronic fields, particulariy in the radio,
television, and phonograph amplifier arts. The amplifier-speaker
assembly cannot therefore be protected by the patent. Insofar as the tone
generator assembly required by the claims in this patent is concerned, we
note that reeds were first used in musical instruments near the turn
of the 18th century and that the applications of electrical devices
to sense the vibrations of such reeds in electronic pianos culminated in
the 1930's and 1940's in thé earlier electronic pianos developed and
patented by B. F. Miessner (the inventor under U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363),
the patents for which have now expired.

With the exception of the particular nature of the pick-up member
described in the heretofore-referred-to portions of the specification
of U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363, all of the specifics of the tone generator
disclosed in the patent are found in the prior art, either by identical
embodiment or by equivalence.

We nofe that a patent reference before the Commission, i.e.,
U.S. Patent No. 2,532,038, discloées a capacitive tone generator assembly
.for use in an elegtronic piano wherein a single elongated wire is used
as a pick-up means for a plurality of vibrating tuning forks (or plates)
having a common electrical connection. 1/ This reference reinforces

our conclusion that the only novel feature in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363

1/ Specification of U.S. Patent No. 2,532,038, fig. 11 (H and K). In our
view, one who is skilled in the art "could easily substitute reeds for
tuning forks (or plates). See specification of U.S. Patent No. 2,487,420,
col. 3, lines 68-T5, where it is indicated that, in an electro-acoustical
musical instrument (including an.electronic piano), a reed may be sub-
stituted for a tuning fork.
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centers on the particular nature of the pick-up. In view of this
reference, the single pick-up in the tone generator assembly dis-
closed in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 cannot consist of an elongated
wire; it must consist of something more than a wire and still be
electrically conductive. 1/ As previously stated, sucH a pick-

up consists of a continuous strip of electrically conductive metal
positioned so that it would sense the vibrations of more than one
reed.

We recognize that the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363
are combination claims and that all of the elements in each claim must
be looked at in terms of their interaction with one another in arriving
at the proper interpretation of the scope of the coverage in each claim.
In this connection, we note that when the patentee first presented claims
in this patent to the U.S. Patent Office for approval (which claims
then included all of the elements of the claims in issue except for

the requirement that there be a single pick-up for electrostatically

sensing the vibrations of more than one reed), the claims were disallowed
on the ground that the claimed combination would be specifically
unpatentable over two patent references cited by that office, i.e.,

U.S. Patent No. 2,510,094 and U.S. Patent No. 2,581,963. 2/ It was

only after the patentee had amended his claims to provide for the

pick-up of the type descriﬁed above that the U.S. Patent Office allowed
the claims. 1In éur view, any novelty in the combination as presently
covered by the claims in issue in this patent is directly traceable to

and remains confined to the specific nature of the pick-up found

l/ The tone generator assembly referred to above as disclosed
by U.S. Patent No. 2,532,038 would be electrically equivalent in
every way to the tone generator structure disclosed in U.S. Patent No.
3,038,363. As such, it would produce the same cumulative capacitance.
2/ File history of U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363.
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in the tone generator assembly; any interaction of this type of
pick-up with the other elements required in these claimé would be no
different from the interaction of the various elements in the claims
as originally submitted,which, as noted above, were found to be
unpatentable by the U.S. Patent Office.

By virtue of the reasons set forth above, we find that the rationale for
the court's holding of infringement of the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No.
35038;363 is erroneous.  We do not feel that the claim coverage in this patent
may properly be extended to‘cover the imported product. When properly
construed in the light of the file history of thé patent, the patent
specification and drawings, and the prior art, the claim coverage in
this patent, in our view, is directed to anvelectronic piano wherein the
novel feature consists of a one-piece, continuous, electrically conductive
strip of metal positioned so that it can sense the vibrations of a
multiplicity of reeds. 1/ As so construed, the claim coverage does not
encompass the imported producf, since the pick-ups in this product, from
a physical‘standpoint, each comprise a multiplicity of parts which, when
fastened together, cqrreépopd with and sense the vibrations of only one
.reed. The pick-ups, as so structured, are spaced independently of each
other and are mounted to a common support bar by screws. Other screws
allow the individual pick-ups to be adjusted Wifh respect to the
reeds with which they cooperate, thus allowing for adjustment in tone
and volume. In this connection, it is instructive to note that the imported

product would clearly have fallen under the claim coverage of the claims as

1/ As previously noted, such a pick-up would, by its nature, be single
electrically. '
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originally submitted by the patentee to the U.S. Patent Office in
Patent.Application Serial No. 799,897 (filed March 17,’1959);
these claims, as noted above, were disallowed.

In light of the foregoing, we make no finding of unfair methods
or unfair acts on the basis of infringement of the claims in issue in
this patent.

In our view, the effect of the court decision, holding that the
claims in issue in this patent are infringed by the imported electronic
pianos, can only be properiy evaluated by reference to secfion’337 itself.
Subsection (a) of section 337 provides in part that unlawful methods of
competition and unlawful acts, when found tp exist shall be
dealt with "in addition to any other provisions of law . . . ."

The court, in dealing with the case at hand, implemented one of the
"other provisions of law".(i;e., the patent laws under 35 U.S.C.).

It is still left to the Commission to pursue its investigation in an effort
to determine whether section.337 has been violated. The remedy provided
by an exclusion order applies in rem to all U.S. imports of a product
instead of in personam t§ a.selecf importer or a select number of
'importers situatedin a particular geographic district. The considerations
motivating the Commission in finding unfair methods of competition

or unfair acts under section 337 will of necessity at times be different
from those which pfompt a court to hold that the claims in issue in

a patent have been infringed. The Commission adapts patent law to the
specialized circumstances of foreign trade to effectuate the purposes of

section 337; unlike a court of law, the Commission has no mandate to
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enforcé péteﬁt law and, indeed, would be exceeding its statutory authority
if it attempted to do so.

The decision of the court in the case at hand should therefore
be viewed, not in terms of having some kind of imagined binding effect
on the Commission nor in terms of an opinion which must in some way be
given credence in the Commission's finding, but rather in terms of
what it actually is--an opinion relating to a given set of facts with
which the Commission, given sufficient justification, may agree or
disagree, whether in wholelor in part.

In the case at hand, the court's decision, holding that the claims
in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363 are infringed by the imported
products, if followed, would result in our giving an unwarranted extension
to the claim coverage of this patent by according the patentee a
monopoly to which he is not entitled. By'following the court's rationale,
we would in effect be finding that virtually all electronic pianos having
electrostatic pick-ups are cévered by the claims in issue in this patent.
On the baéis of the file history of this patent and the relevant prior art,
we feel that the U.S. Patent Officé did not allow any claims having

the scope accorded them by the court.

Conclusion

In view of our finding that (1) the reeds for electronic pianos allegedly

covered by the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,154,997 do not have
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the efféct'or tendency to substantially injure an industry, efficiently
and economically operated, in the United States, and (2)‘there are

no unfair methods of competition or unfair acts involving electronic
pianos allegedly covered by the claims in issue in U.S. Patent Nos.
2,949,053, 2,942,512, and 3,038,363, we conclude that there is no

violation of section 337.
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STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER MOORE 1/

On March 6, 1972, a complaint was filed with the U.S. Tarift

Commission by The Wurlitzer Co. of Chicago, I11., under

section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930. A supplemental cowplaint was

filed by Wurlitzer with the Commission on August 2, 1972, Wurlitzer

(hereinafter referred to as complainant) requested that the

Commission recommend to the President that certain imported electronic

pianos be excluded from entry into the United States.

Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 declares to be unlawful unfair
methods of competition and unfair acts in the importation of
articles into the United States, or in their sale by the owner, importer,
consignee, or agent of either, the effect or tendency of'which is

1/ Commissioner Ablondi uoncurs-with the recommendation. In his
opzhion, based upon all the facts adduced in this investigation, there
is a violation of sec. 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930. He has con-
sidered the judicial determination of similar factual and legal issues
rendered by the U.S. district court in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electro-
key, Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3-4803C). An orderly process of justice requires
that the same issucs between the same parties decided by one authority
should not, under ordinary circumstances, be contravened by another
authority. The public and the parties to a Commission investigation
would expect that the same subject matter should not be subject to
differing interpretations in separate forums.

bDespite the court order in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electrokey,
Inc., et al. enjoining further sales of the electronic pianos by
Electrokey, Tne., injunctive relief should not be considered to be
dispositive of the injury issue presented under the statute.
Subsec. (a) of sec. 337 expressly provides, in part, that the
unfair methods of competition and unfair acts shall be dealt with
"in addition to any other provisions of law . . . ." Having found a
violation of sec. 337, the additional remedy expressly provided for
by sec. 337 (i.e., exclusion) would operate in rem to exclude, for the
remaining term of U.$. Patent No. 3,038,363, all imports of electronic
pianos which are covered by the claims in issue of the patent. 'This
relief to which the complainant is entitled is broader in scope and
intended to exclude from entry all infringing articles.
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(a) to destroy or substantially injure an efficiently and economically
operated domestic industry, or (b) to prevent the establishment of
such an industry, or (c) to restrain or monoplize trade and commerce
in the United States. 1/

I determine that there is a violafion ﬁf section 337. My
determination is based upon a finding of unfair methods of competi-
tion or unfair acts witﬁin the meaning of section 337 in the
unlicgnsed impoftation and sale of certain electronic pianos by
reason of their being covered by claims 3 through 9 (inclusive) in
U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363. This determinationis supported by the
decision of the U.S. District Court for the Northemn

District of Texas entered on November 14, 1974 in The Wurlitzer

Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al. (C.A. No. 3-4803C), in which the
court held that the claims in issue in this patent were infringed |
by these imports.

In view of my determination involving the claims in issue in
U.S. Patent No. 3,023,363, I do not find it necessary to consider

the claims in issue in U.S. Patent Nos. 2,942,512, 2,949,053, or

1/ The effect or tendency of unfair practices to prevent the estab-
lishment of an efficiently and economically operated domestic industry
or to restrain or monopolize trade and commerce is not in issue here.
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3,154,997,.the infringements of which are also alleged.by complainant
as constituting unfair methods of competition and unfair acts under
section 337. 1/
The Domestic Industry“Concérnéd
The domestic industry which I have considered herein consists of
that portion of complainant's operations which are engaged in the
domestic manufacture of eleéronic pianos covered by the claims in
issue in U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363. Complainant is by assignmment
the owner of U.S. Patent No. 3,038,363, which was issued on jﬁne 12,
1962. Complainant has not granfed a license to any party for produc-
tion or sale of electronic pianos under this patent. This patent has
been litigated before the U.S. District Court for the Northern

District of Texas in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et " al.

(C.A. No. 3-4803C), where it was held that ﬁhe claims in this patent were
valid and infringed.

The,investigation discloses that the operations of complainant
are efficiently and economically operated. Complainant uses modern and
efficient manufacturing equipment in a modern, up-to-date facility

situated in Logan, Utah.

1/ The court held in The Wurlitzer Company v. Electrokey, Inc., et al.
(C.A. No. 3-4803C) that the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No. 2,942,512 were
infringed by these imports, that the claims in issue in U.S. Patent No.
2,949,053 were not infringed, and that the claims in issue in U.S. Patent
No. 3,154,997 were invalid.
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'Thé Domestic Product (UQS, Patent No. 3,038,3§3)

The complainant manufactures an electronia.piano having an
electrostatic tone generator assembly comprising a plurality of reeds
and pick-ups. One model of this piano, the Wurlitzer Model 200,
resembles a portable chord organ in outward appearance. The remaining
models resemble string-type spinet pianos, but are generally smaller
and lighter; ' :

" A1l models of electronic pianos currently manufactured by the
complainant (i.e., the Model 200, the Model 203W, the Model 214 ‘the
Model 206 and the ‘Model 207)»embody the same type of pick-ups in their
tone generators. Theée pick-ups (when properly charged with the
designated electrical voltage) electrostatically sense the vibrations
of reeds set‘in.motion by key—actuated'hémmersuand produce
electronic signals which, when amplified eléctrically, result
in a tone closely resembling that of a conventional string piano.

The parté necessary to accomplish this tone are (1) electrically
conductive pick-ups (the domestic product has four separate stamped-
out aluminum metal strips placed end to end which serve as pick-ups;
éach strip has small cutout portions on'one side to accommodate the
insertion of different-sized reeds); (2) a plurality of

electrically conductlve reeds sized to vibrate within each cutout
portion of the plck—ups without coming into physical contact w1th
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